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INTRODUCTION


Manchester is famous for the ‘Industrial Revolution’ with its factories, working-class people and rapid urban development, all based around its production of cotton textiles. Whilst this is correct, it is not the complete story. This book traces the development of Manchester and its people from Roman times, since it is here where the story of Manchester begins, when the Romans under the leadership of General Agricola established a garrison at Castlefield. Whilst this was not on the scale of the great Roman cities, it was geographically strategic, and the Romans laid down some of the infrastructure such as major roads seen in central Manchester today, en-route to places such as Chester, Carlisle and York. It is during the medieval period, when William the Conqueror began dispersing lands amongst his barons, that central Manchester developed around the site of the current cathedral, and it is here that the manor of Manchester was built. It is during this time that we see the emergence of textiles as a basis for the local economy, and it is when Flemish textile workers, who were displaced due to war in continental Europe, came to the region, bringing their skills in spinning and weaving. This becomes a major part of the local economy, and the region noted for textiles production, though this was mainly in the woollen trade initially before cotton production took over the region’s industry. Manchester was the commercial centre of a network of towns, including Oldham, Rochdale, Bolton and so on, that were active in textile spinning and weaving, and where merchant began meeting each week to trade.


Manchester has always been a place of strong political viewpoints and this is initially displayed during the Civil War of the 1640s where the area largely supported the Parliamentarians, against the monarch Charles I, and despite Royalist efforts to lay siege to the town they were prevented from doing so. The city became noted for radical politics and a people who were not afraid to argue for democracy and justice. Discontent spilled out in the early nineteenth century, since working people were the wealth creators but had no political voice, and the poverty and living conditions were such that they had no choice but to protest; this ultimately led to the Peterloo Massacre, when 16 August 1819 became one of the most notable dates in Manchester’s calendar as the cavalry charged a crowd of civilians meeting to hear the radical ‘orator’ Henry Hunt address the working-class people of Manchester. The people of Manchester were split into two classes and this division was keenly felt in all aspects of daily life. You were either a somebody or a nobody, middle-class or working class, and this shaped your life chances, whether it was your education (or lack of it), type of work, or even whether you went in a beerhouse, pub or an inn. Manchester was the ‘shock city’ of its age, and observers from far and wide were in awe of what they saw. One of these was the German businessman, Friedrich Engels, who came to Manchester to run the family business in the 1840s, and he wrote his observations in the classic Conditions of the Working-Class in England, exposing factory life. Women were faced with limited opportunities in society and, despite men eventually being granted the right to vote, women had to fight long and hard into the twentieth century before they had equal democratic rights to men. Here, it was mainly educated middle-class women, such as Lydia Becker and Emmeline Pankhurst who fought this battle.


Manchester during the twentieth century was badly affected by war, like many other places. The city recruited volunteers for the First World War and sent one of the largest Pals regiments to the front line. During the Second World War, central Manchester and nearby Trafford Park were devastated in the Christmas Blitz of 1940. By the turn of the First World War the cotton industry was already in decline and struggling to compete with other countries that had invested in newer technology in the industry. The wars turned a struggling industry into a virtually non-existent one, and in the aftermath of post-war reconstruction Manchester had to reinvent its economy to provide employment and prosperity. This took some time and it was not until the 1980s that the city returned to the cosmopolitan centre of opportunity it had once been.


Manchester has also been a place of culture. From the nineteenth century the middle class created a host of literary and scientific institutions, such as the Portico Library, the Manchester Art Gallery and the Literary and Philosophical Society. In 1857, the Art Treasures Exhibition was one of the grandest displays of art and industry ever seen in Britain. Into the twentieth century, Manchester has been the home of a range of musical trends from the Hallé Orchestra to the Hacienda nightclub, where classical music has sat beside punk and new genre pop and rock music. The Hallé still exists, yet the Hacienda provided a brief moment in popular culture, but whose cultural legacy in popular music continues. Manchester is also a sporting city that is home to two of the most famous football clubs in the UK if not the world, and is also home to Lancashire County Cricket. The success of the Commonwealth Games in 2002 also placed Manchester firmly on the sporting map as a place for athletics, where top-class facilities and elite athletes allow competition at the highest level.


The history of Manchester is very much based around its people, who were often pioneers, whether this be the development of the first railway line from Manchester to Liverpool in 1830, the first public library created in the seventeenth century by the legacy of Humphrey Chetham and subsequently the first publicly funded library at Campfield in 1851, fighting for greater political rights, or becoming the key wealth creators for the nation. As we advance through the twenty-first century, Manchester’s role in the United Kingdom remains undiminished as it becomes ever more cosmopolitan and a northern powerhouse of economic, social and political progress. Here is its story.


Deborah Woodman, 2017
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MANCUNIUM


Manchester had a Roman foundation, though not worth lingering on about. Its only standing structural remains, the fragment of a wall in a goods yard at the bottom of Deansgate, must rank as the least interesting Roman remain in England, which is setting a high standard.


A.J.P. Taylor (1957)


Introduction


Whilst Manchester cannot make high claims of vast quantities of well-preserved Roman architecture such as that seen in York and Chester, it was of strategic Roman importance as the home of a military garrison and it certainly marks the beginning of the story of Manchester, since it was here that the foundations of one of Britain’s greatest cities were laid. This chapter looks at a range of archaeological evidence from a number of excavations over the centuries to establish why Manchester became a strategic military site, where the Romans settled, and how the Roman period laid the foundations for a city that was centuries away from the major industrial and cultural centre that we know today. Finally, the chapter will uncover why the site was so important to the Romans in their quest for domination of the British Isles and the legacy they left behind.


The Origins of Mancunium


Manchester’s name has had a number of variations over the years, including Mancunium and Mamucium, and whose origins can be traced from around AD 48 to 79 until around the fourth century AD, though Mancunium is the more recognisable name that we associate with Manchester, where locals are still known as Mancunians, and even a key motorway through the centre of Manchester is the Mancunian Way.1 The legacy of Roman Manchester is still present, mainly through the Romans roads and geography which still form the basic structure of the city, yet we are largely oblivious to this as we wander around Deansgate, Castlefield, Great Bridgewater Street and Liverpool Road. The Roman military station occupied a strategic position close to the rivers Medlock and Irwell that became known as Castlefield, and it is here that the remains and reconstructions of the site can be found. It was a small but important strategic military site, and in order to establish why Manchester became a Roman garrison town it is necessary to look at the wider geography and people of north-west England. Before the Roman occupation, the region is known to have been inhabited by the Brigantes, a Celtic tribe whose name reflected the terrain they occupied. ‘Brigantes’ meant free, high or upland people and they occupied an area that stretched from Hadrian’s Wall in the north to the more southerly Peak District. The Manchester region was known to have been the home of a particular group of the Brigantes, known as the Setantii. There is little evidence available that sheds light on the relationship that existed between the Brigantes and their Roman conquerors, since most archaeological evidence was left by the Romans and not the people they conquered. However, what has remained has suggested a positive alliance between the Brigantes tribe and the Romans.2 The Brigantian chief, Queen Cartimandua, appeared not to have been especially hostile to the Romans, and the region the Brigantes tribe inhabited became an area that shielded the territory that the Romans occupied against more hostile northern tribes that were not so accommodating to their conquerors.


The Roman conquest of Britain began around AD 43 under the direction of Emperor Claudius and the occupation lasted for around 400 years. The Romans did not assert control over northern England until the AD 70s, since by around AD 47 they had become somewhat stuck along the Fosse Way, a Roman road that linked Exeter with Lincoln, and it was not until around AD 77 when their Roman leader, Gnaeus Julius Agricola, arrived in Britain that they made further progress. Agricola eventually led the Roman armies to the north, where after a brief campaign in North Wales he turned his attention to north-west England, bringing his Twentieth Legion to Chester and eventually making progress towards York. Agricola was known to personally choose military sites, and often these were squares of around 3 to 5 acres and capable of holding around 500 soldiers. The site at Castlefield fitted this description well. According to Tacitus, the Roman writer and brother-in-law of Agricola, the army under Agricola’s leadership attacked the Brigantes forcefully, but in order to maintain his control over them he developed shrewd political skills by offering concessions to the locals in order to gain their acceptance and cooperation. The garrison’s construction was part of a programme to overpower the native tribes, but at the same time it is evident that the Brigantian state had already started to decline. The indigenous population formed settlements around the garrison in an area close to the current Deansgate that became known as Alport, or old town.
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1 Statue of Agricola above the door of Manchester Town Hall.





The Roman Garrison


Castlefield was chosen for a number of strategic reasons. In addition to being the correct shape and size for Agricola’s army, it also had other geographical features that made it a good military position. First, the land on which the garrison was built was located on a high sandstone outcrop that was surrounded by curves in the rivers Medlock and Irwell. The site has been referred to as Mamucium or ‘breast-like hill’ because of its shape, and it is here that this other Roman name for Manchester originated. The garrison was on a junction with Watling Street, the great Roman road that crossed the country, and here one part of it went from Manchester to Cumbria. Other roads that the Romans created emanated directly from the garrison, making it a place of strategic military importance, particularly on the main arterial routes between the two of the major Roman military bases and settlements west to east between Chester and York, thereby servicing major Roman settlements either side of the Pennines, and on the main arterial route north to Carlisle.3 The road north to another notable Roman town, Ribchester, was routed via Bridgewater Street, Liverpool Road, along Deansgate and towards the north of the region.4 Roads between Manchester and Chester were known to have existed from around AD 74, close to the Castlefield site, which added a further incentive for the garrison to be situated here.5 The road to Chester was known to have followed a route via the River Medlock close to Great Jackson Street, through Hulme and Stretford towards Broadheath. The road to the other great Roman city of York took a route via Great Bridgewater Street, towards Ancoats, then following on to Newton Heath and up towards Oldham and over the Pennines where the other Roman site of the area, Castleshaw, can be found. On the north side of the garrison, a number of smaller streets were created around the Camp Street, Quay Street and Lower Byrom Street areas, where it seems likely that there were settlements to support the garrison itself and occupied by soldiers and traders.6


The garrison itself was built around AD 79, ironically around the same time that Pompeii and Herculaneum were destroyed by the infamous eruption of Vesuvius in the Bay of Naples, and was known to be occupied for a little over 300 years. Excavations have revealed a number of key changes throughout its existence and it appears to have been rebuilt on three separate occasions before being abandoned around AD 410. The first stage of construction around AD 79 was subsequently redeveloped somewhere in the region of AD 160, with further work around AD 200.7 During the first century, the garrison appears to have been built mainly of timber and designed to house around 500 soldiers, but by the early second century it was replaced with a stone structure that could house around 1,000 soldiers and developed further to incorporate stone gateways and walls. Specifically, there is evidence that the site was redeveloped between AD 110 and AD 160, when it was enlarged, probably to incorporate a range of granaries since a site of this nature needed suitable stores of food to provide for the soldiers who were making attempts to move further into northern England, and particularly during the winter months, which the Romans were not especially used to. The garrison was surrounded by a ditch and stone rampart and was about 5 acres in size. There are also likely to have been towers at regular intervals along the ramparts, and the inside would have contained regimental headquarters, barracks for the soldiers, stables and other stores for food and supplies, and this can be ascertained both from the limited finds on the site and from what other Roman garrisons looked like.


Archaeological evidence has also been found to indicate the presence of baths and hypocausts to provide underfloor heating. Figure 2 depicts the geography of the site and how it may have looked around AD 200, showing the garrison next to the bend in the river and the settlements that developed around. The whole site that contained the garrison was known as the Castellum and the River Irwell ran north–south of the Castellum, which provided a further line of defence, where it was also circled by the rivers Tib and Medlock.8 Some buildings that existed have been replicated to give an indication of what the site may have looked like, and these include a reconstruction of the garrison’s North Gate. Figures 3 to 5 show either side of the North Gate as it may have looked, where the reconstruction on the original Roman foundations was built in 1982 following an excavation of the site. By the middle of the second century the rectangular fort contained four gateways, with one on each side.
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2 Reconstruction of Roman Manchester as it might have appeared around AD 200. (By Graham Sumner based on advice from Norman Redhead, County Archaeologist)





The North Gate was built on a Roman road that ran into the area that was inhabited by the civilian population. This outer civilian area was known as the vicus, and archaeologists have found evidence of life around the garrison that includes iron working workshops that were vital for producing weapons. The garrison utilised natural resources in the area and developed a number of trades to support the soldiers and their families, and included blacksmiths and bakehouses, for example. In some of the excavations, hearths suitable for metal working were discovered and a pottery kiln was found in nearby Tonman Street. Other buildings that have been excavated include three Roman buildings which lay aside the Roman road that ran from the North Gate, and it has been suggested that these could have been a shop, an inn and a house. Most were of timber construction on a stone foundation, with either a thatch or tile roof and clay daub walls. A water mill was constructed close by the River Medlock. Sheep fleeces were turned into clothing, providing a distinct advantage in northern England’s mild and damp climate that could turn cold in winter. It is estimated that the vicus was home to around 2,000 people around AD 200 and covered the area from Quay Street to Deansgate. Figures 6 and 7 show the foundations of Roman buildings set outside the fort, next to a Roman road.


The back of the North Gate, close to today’s Duke Street, contains reconstructions of the western wall and ramparts. This site was thought to have been used to provide aggregates for both building the garrison and later creating ditches that were utilised for defensive purposes. Excavations have revealed that the ditches were filled with discarded pottery dating around the second century AD. The area also contained a granary to store food including grain and meat. This had a raised floor to provide ventilation and keep the grain dry. Normally a garrison would have contained two granaries that could keep the community supplied with food for a year. The rampart was supported by a stone structure and it is thought this survived until the end of the Roman occupation. Figure 8, showing the western walls and ramparts, reveals how close the Roman site was to the Victorian railway building area, where a good deal of archaeology was destroyed in the railway construction of the 1830s and 1840s.


There are a number of eye-witness descriptions of Castlefield that date back to the sixteenth century and these give us some brief insights into the remains that existed some 500 years or so after the Roman occupation, and despite this lapse in time, they add to our understanding of what the site may have looked like. The testimonies that have survived over the centuries include those of John Leland, William Camden, John Horsley and William Stukeley. The earliest observation we have is that of John Leland, who was one of the Henry VIII’s antiquaries, whose tours of England led him to the region in the 1530s. The old English in which it is written can be difficult to read, but he states how:


And almost ii flyte shottes withowt the towne beneth on the same syde of Irwel yet be seene the dikes and fundations of Old Man Castel yn a ground now inclosed. The stones of the ruines of this castel wer translatid towards making of bridgges for that toune.9
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Above 3 & 4 Reconstruction of the North Gate.
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Left 5 The inscription on the North Gate commemorates the detachment of Raetious, the Noricans and Lucius Senecanius Martius.
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Above 6 & 7 Reconstructed foundations of buildings in the civilian vicus area.
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Right 8 Reconstruction of the western walls and ramparts.





This description, whilst suggesting that there were visible ruins, does not elaborate on what was actually there, apart from evident archaeological remains, though he does indicate a self-contained site where some of the rubble left from the site was redeployed into the building of bridges in the centre of Manchester, which no doubt had a negative effect on the remaining archaeology. The second observation is that of the historian William Camden, who visited during the 1620s:


In a neighbouring park belonging to the Earls of Derby, call’d Alparc, I saw the foundations of an old square Fort, which they call Mancastle; where the river Medloc joins the Irwell. I will not say, that this was the ancient Mancunium, the compass of it is so little; but rather it was some Roman station.10


Later descriptions include that of the archaeologist and antiquarian John Horsley from around the early eighteenth century and a more comprehensive analysis by Dr William Stukeley, a member of the clergy who also had an interest in archaeology. Both were commenting in the early eighteenth century. First, Horsley stated that:


When I was at Manchester, I examined with care the Roman station west from it. The field in which it stands is called Castle-field. The river runs near it, on the east side. The ramparts are still very conspicuous.11


The description offered by Horsley does suggest that there was some meaningful archaeology remaining but Stukeley goes much further, commenting in 1723:


A Roman Castrum was on the west side going for Chester by Stretford, and on the northern bank of the river Medlock. It is a small piece of level ground, somewhat higher than that around it. It does not cover the whole piece, but is a square, 500 feet one way, 400 the other; nor can it be said to be ditched about, but the ground beside it for some distance is manifestly removed into the castle, and spread long its verge, not as a regular vallum, but sloping inwards; by this means the area of it is higher on the sides that the middle, and the exterior ground is lowered around to the foot of the castle, which is steep, like the sides of the vallum. Upon this edge there has been a wall, quite round; the foundations of it are to be discovered almost everywhere, in some places large parcels of are left but not above ground. Now they call it Castle Croft.12


Another form of representation of the Roman garrison comes from the nineteenth-century artist, Ford Madox Brown, who painted a scene depicting the arrival of the Romans in Manchester as part of his collection of the Manchester Murals housed in the Great Hall of Manchester Town Hall. His work is not meant as an accurate recreation of Castlefield but is a symbolic piece of art that represents the start of Manchester’s story. The term Mancenion referred to in the title of his work is another incarnation of Manchester’s original name and here this is believed to have been an ancient Briton term meaning place of tents. Madox Brown discusses his thoughts when undertaking the painting:


This subject embodies the foundation of Manchester; for, although the British name ‘Mancenion’ seems to indicate this locality as a centre for population, it is improbable that anything worthy the name of a town existed before the Roman Mancunium. Agricola was Governor of Britain at this date AD 60 and was, as his son-in-law Tacitus informs us, a humane as well as an energetic Governor. His rule was much connected with this part of England, so that the general depicted may be considered as representative of that Governor. A centurion holds the parchment plan of the camp that is being fortified, while his chief, who also has hold of it, gives his orders. His standard-bearer, in this instance a ‘Dragonifer,’ holds up the silken wind-inflated Dragon standard which the Romans at this period had adopted from the ‘Barbarians.’ The legionaries are doing the masons’ work; but the bearers of stones and cement are Britons, impressed for the occasion. The River Medlock bounds the camp on the south; the background beyond it is formed of oak forests, red with the last leaves of November, while in the extreme distance is visible the blue streak of the distant Peak hills. A chilling wind is depicted as agitating the garments of the conquerors, and making the work in hand more arduous to men of southern nationality.13
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9 Ford Madox Brown, The Romans Building a Fort at Mancenion. (Courtesy of Manchester Libraries, Information and Archives, Manchester City Council)





Excavations and Finds


There have been a number of examinations and excavations at Castlefield, the earliest of which was conducted by John Whitaker in the 1770s, followed by later work carried out by Charles Roeder and Francis Bruton at the end of the nineteenth and turn of the twentieth centuries.14 More recent work, such as that by Barrie Jones in the 1970s and excavations in the 1980s and 2000s by the Greater Manchester Archaeological Unit, have all added to our overall understanding of the garrison. Consequently, over the centuries there have been a number of important finds that have enabled us to form a picture of life in the garrison and surrounding area. Even some prehistoric remains have been found in more recent excavations but there are too few finds to allow us to form a coherent picture of life before the Romans arrived. However, they do indicate that there was some form of habitation of the site around Castlefield before the Roman occupation. These finds included an early bronze-age flint found on Barton Street and two mesolithic flints and a further bronze-age flint from the Liverpool Road area. There were also some redeposited pieces of bronze iron-age pottery found in the vicinity.


However, it is clear that urban development of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries badly affected the site, since many of the remaining structures were destroyed when new buildings, canals and railways were constructed as part of the Industrial Revolution. In particular, the site was damaged by the construction of the Bridgewater Canal in the 1760s, followed by the railways around Liverpool Road station during the 1830s and 1840s. The construction of a railway viaduct near Liverpool Road during this time effectively destroyed the core of the garrison itself, and other subsequent urban development severely damaged evidence that would have offered us a deeper understanding of life in Roman Manchester. Archaeologist Charles Roeder concluded that it was the building of the Altrincham railway in 1849, cutting through the site, that destroyed much of the foundations and archaeology, and he complained that officials of the time did not allow archaeologists to investigate the site before the railway construction began. It is unfortunate that 300 to 400 years of Roman habitation was lost very quickly during the late eighteenth and nineteenth centuries.15


Despite this, some artefacts did indeed survive and some were found whilst construction work was taking place. One of the first ever major finds was as far back as 1612 when a Roman altar was discovered under the root of an oak tree growing on the river bank near Knott Mill, and is believed to have been found near the site of the Roman baths. It is thought that this altar was created in honour of the goddess Fortuna by an officer called Senecianius in the Roman army. For most of the time since it was found, the altar has been housed in Oxford’s Ashmolean Museum, but more recently has been on loan to the Manchester Museum.16 In 1808, a number of Roman dishes were found at Castlefield, owing to construction work of the Rochdale Canal, close to the junction with the Bridgewater Canal. They had been well preserved and undisturbed for many hundreds of years, and, not realising the significance of the finds, workmen took them for scrap value and it is only by chance that they were rescued and put with the collections at the British Museum.17 Later finds include some Roman coins from the years AD 306 to 340 at the Manchester side of Salford Bridge, which was the area around the current Manchester Cathedral, and some have suggested that there may have been a Roman site there too, but not enough evidence has been found to support this theory. A more significant artefact was discovered in 1839 during the construction of the Hall of Science in Tonman Street and proved to be one of the most notable Roman finds ever found in Manchester, that of a bronze statuette of Jupiter Stator and a silver coin of Trajan, which dated from around AD 98 to 117. Equally interesting and important were the discovery of two further bronze statuettes of Hercules and Genius of Mauritania. Other finds included more coins, weapons, lamps, tiles, glass ware and a range of pottery.18 It is also believed that a cemetery was located south-east of the garrison. Some of the information about this site comes from Whitaker’s examination of the area, who maintained that during the 1760s urns containing seemingly human remains were found. In 1832, a wooden coffin was found near the River Medlock, and in 1849 excavations took place around the cemetery area, but sadly none of the remains are with us today.19


John Whitaker undertook one of the first detailed examinations of the site during the early 1770s. Whitaker was local to Manchester and spent much of his life as a clergyman and historian. Inspired by a number of Roman finds as a result of the 1760s construction of the Bridgewater Canal, he investigated Castlefield in some depth and subsequently published his findings in a series of volumes of The History of Manchester between 1771 and 1775, alongside a range of works on the Roman Empire. In his history of the area he stated:


The parish of Manchester was originally a wild, unfrequented tract of woodland, inhabited merely by the bear, the bull, and the wolf, and traversed only by the hunters of the neighbouring country. In the first visit of the Romans to Britain, under Julius Caesar it does not appear that the invaders penetrated so far north as Lancashire and it was not till the time of Agricola (AD 79) that Manchester passed under Roman yoke. At that period the tumults of war were introduced amongst the peaceable inhabitants, and Manchester was occupied by the levies from the banks of the Tiber. A Roman station was constructed in the Castlefield near the confluence of the Medlock with the Irwell; and another (and smaller) establishment about a mile to the north of it at the confluence of the Irk with the same river, received a colony of inhabitants who made it their summer residence. Four minor fortresses were placed for their protection within and the woodland were intersected with Roman roads, all ranging at right angles through the thickets and converging to a point in the Castlefield.20


Whitaker was both commended and criticised in equal measure. Some considered his work to be a welcome look at Manchester’s early history, but others have criticised his over-generalisations and claims with no supporting evidence. However, his descriptions of the remains of the walls at the site were seen to be accurate. The most important (and some would say more academic) archaeological excavations began at Castlefield with the work carried out by Charles Roeder from 1897 to 1900. A detailed examination of his findings is offered in his work Roman Manchester which he produced in 1900. Roeder was an amateur archaeologist but his work was detailed and systematic and he uncovered a good number of pottery fragments, and claims to have found around 500 pieces of the highly prized red Samian pottery that the Romans used, which was a high-quality porcelain type of pottery that was usually red in colour and decorated in the finest details, ownership of which demonstrated status and affluence. The presence of this kind of pottery, such as jars and urns, and the quality of the finds are indicators that the inhabitants had a comfortable existence.21 Francis Bruton undertook a further excavation of the garrison in 1907. This work was important because the site was again facing further damage since the land was scheduled for redevelopment and additional railway construction, so the archaeological team had to quickly complete their work. This excavation was important in revealing more details of the Roman garrison. Collectively, the archaeology uncovered by both Roeder and Bruton included ramparts of the garrison and revealed a more important and extensive walled area. Bruton’s team discovered further coins, tiles and a Samian vase. They also found a granary that was located inside the Castrum, allowing for the storage of provisions, particularly important for times such as winter or a military siege, and reinforced the fort’s military importance.22 In terms of other key finds, a mortarium, a Roman kitchen bowl which had a rough surface so that substances could be ground to a fine powder, was found, alongside red Samian pottery ‘with foliage and birds, and with a wonderful glaze on it’.23 The floor was found to be of red sandstone. Around 100 coins were found and thirty-eight were identified as being in the time of Emperors Claudius and Nero through to Antoninus Pius, and this leads experts to the conclusion that Roman occupation may have in fact began a little earlier than previously thought at around AD 60, a date that links Manchester more with activity around Chester than York. Also, the last emperor seen on the coins, Pius, led archaeologists to consider that the garrison was occupied until around the end of the second century AD, though another theory is that the site was still in existence but no longer used for military occupation.24 The area around Knott Mill contained a large building, and a Roman well is believed to have been located near the more recent Crown Inn public house on Trafford Street. Remarkably, and despite much destruction of the archaeology, some Roman glass survived and was found in a location just off Cateaton Street close to the cathedral.25 The excavations by Roeder, Bruton and others have challenged John Whitaker’s more flamboyant assertions, the most notable being a disagreement over the significance of artefacts discovered in the area around the cathedral. Roeder was especially critical of Whitaker’s analysis, and disputed his claims that the Romans held a summer camp at this location. The debate has continued about whether the Romans occupied the site that formed medieval Manchester, and despite some finds it has not been proven either way.
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10 The Chester Road Roman altar found in 2008. (Norman Redhead, Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service)





More modern archaeological surveys include that conducted by Professor Barrie Jones of the University of Manchester’s Archaeological Unit in the 1970s. Their first examination was in 1972, when the team examined the vicus, the focus of this excavation being either side of White Lion Street, an area that currently forms the Roman Gardens just off Liverpool Road. A further excavation in 1977 was undertaken in nearby Byrom Street and Tonman Street.26 This revealed sections of a Roman road that linked the North Gate with the road to Ribchester, and further evidence was uncovered of everyday life at the garrison, including workshops, hearths and furnaces. The Greater Manchester Archaeological Unit’s work during the 1980s and early 2000s has also added to our understanding with new finds, which include a metre-high Roman altar, found in 2008 at the junction between Chester Road and Great Jackson Street, which depicts Aelius Victor, a Roman soldier, who made the altar as an offering to two minor Roman goddesses. The Latin inscription says: ‘To the mother goddesses Hananeftis and Ollototis, Aelius Victor willingly and deservedly fulfils a vow’. It had been concluded that Victor could have been an army officer in the second half of the second century AD and the altar may have represented thanks for something good that may have happened to him. It is known to be made from Pennine millstone grit, and on top there is a small bowl shape where oil or other liquids could be placed by way of an offering. The altar was found in an ancient rubbish pit on the site of a former garage, together with a Samian bowl decorated with a hunting scene and dating from around AD 150. In all, it is estimated that the excavations of the garrison and surrounding area have uncovered around 10,000 artefacts.27
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